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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Dear Investor,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to present Pakistan Income Enhancement Fund accounts review for
the year ended June 30, 2020.

ECONOMY AND MONEY MARKET OVERVIEW

FY20 was a tale of two halves as macroeconomic consolidation process which was on track during the first half was
seriously disrupted by the Covid’19 pandemic in the second half. Global cases topped 17 million, while more than 650,000
people became the morsel of death as the fatal outbreak continued to spread throughout the world. The pandemic
wreaked havoc on the global economy as worldwide lockdowns lowered the overall consumption patterns along with
causing massive unemployment. The IMF predicts that the global economy will shrink 4.9% this year, which would be the
worst annual contraction after the Second World War.

On the local front, the economy was locked down at a large scale till May as the health infrastructure was overwhelmed
with number of cases. As a result of the output gap, the forecasts for economic growth were lowered to -0.4%, compared
to earlier growth expectations of 2.4%. Large Scale Manufacturing (LSM) and Services sector had to bear the major brunt
resulting from lockdowns. LSM contracted by 10.3% during the first eleven months of FY20. Amongst the major industries,
Automobiles and Iron & Steel witnessed a sharp downfall, declining by 44.8% and 17.0% respectively. Textile with the
largest weight in LSM, also contracted by 11.0% after global lockdowns put a halt on exports. Moreover, the Agriculture
sector also disappointed as the production of major crops (Cotton, Wheat and Sugar) remained well below the target
levels.

Fiscal consolidation was seriously disrupted after the lockdowns caused massive shortfall in tax collection. FBR managed
to collect PKR 4.0 trillion against the earlier envisaged target of PKR 4.8 trillion. Till Feb 2020, the tax collection was
growing at a rate of ~16% YoY, however during the last four months of the fiscal year, the tax colle ction saw a massive
contraction of ~20% YoY which resulted in a huge shortfall. Alongside, government rolled out a social safety program to
insulate masses from vulnerabilities posed by lockdown, which resulted in more than desired expenditures. As a result of
this, it is expected that fiscal deficit will fall north of 9.0% of GDP.

Lagged impacts of policy action in terms of monetary tightening and exchange rate adjustments continued to bear fruits as
reflected in improvement in Balance of Payments position. The current account deficit during the year contracted by ~78%
on Year on Year basis to USD 2.8 billion. A major portion of reduction in current account deficit wa s explained by decline
in Imports of goods and services as it compressed by ~19%, translating into a reduction of USD ~12 billion. Remittances
also remained resilient as they increased by ~6% during the year to USD 23.1 billion. Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)
stood at USD ~2.5 billion, up 75% compared to last year as renewal of Telecom Licenses and onset of power sector
projects fetched new investments. Debt related flows from IMF and multilateral institutions also kept the overall financial
flows in the positive zone. Pakistan received USD 2.4 billion from IMF and more than USD ~5 billion were disbursed by
the multilateral institutions for various programs. Overall, the financial account generated a surplus of USD ~7 billion. As a
result, foreign exchange reserves of SBP grew by USD 4.9 billion during the year to close at USD 12.1 billion. While
import cover improved from 1.7x to 2.6x, it is still below the accepted global benchmarks. PKR saw a nominal depreciation
of 3.2% against USD during the year to close at 168.2.

Average CPI for FY20 clocked in at 10.8%, compared to 6.8% witnessed during the preceding year. Food inflation was
prominent during the year averaging at 14.5%, after supply side weakness caused a spike in the prices of some essential
commodities and perishable food items. Sugar prices increased by ~29%, while Wheat flour saw an increase of ~16%
during the year. Among perishable items, onion and potatoes witnessed a hike of ~70% and ~65% respectively. However,
the inflationary pressures have started trending downwards with inflation for June clocking in at 8.6% as lower petroleum
prices along with easing food inflation have put a break on overall inflation. Nevertheless, core inflation as measured by
Non Food Non Energy was still controlled and averaged 7.9% for the period.

The MPC committee remained proactive throughout the calendar year and reduced the interest rates by record 625 bps to
bring the policy rate at 7.0%. Recessionary pressures due to Covid’19 and lower expectation of inflation were the primary
drivers behind the unprecedented move. Alongside, the central bank announced various schemes to lessen the burden of
financial emergencies in the system. Nearly PKR 650 billion of loans were deferred by commercial banks for one year,
while close to PKR 150 billion of loans were restructured.

Yield curve started to slope downward during the first half of FY20 before the monetary easing started, in anticipation of
lower inflation. As the pandemic struck during the start of the calendar year and the recessionary pressures became
imminent, central bank pursued aggressive monetary easing and reduced the policy rate by cumulative 625 bps in several
meetings. As a result the yield curve further shifted downwards during the period. 3Y, 5Y and 10Y bo nds eased off by
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632, 577 and 503 bps respectively during the year. The yield curve has again started to slope upwards as the market
participants are expecting the interest rates to bottom out.

FUND PERFORMANCE

During the period under review, the fund generated an annualized return of 14.45% against its benchmark return of
13.08%. WAM of fund stood at 2.6 years. At period-end, the fund was 10.0% invested in Cash, 39.5% in TFCs, 33.3% in
T-Bills and 14.2% in PIBs.

The Net Assets of the fund as at June 30, 2020 stood at Rs. 707 million as compared to Rs. 698 million as at June 30,
2019 registering an increase of 1.3%. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit as at June 30, 2020 was Rs. 53.8942 as
compared to opening NAV of Rs. 53.1512 per unit as at June 30, 2019 registering an increase of Rs. 0.743 per unit.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

GDP growth for FY21 is projected at 2.0% by government and various institutions. Pakistan has essentially survived the
first wave of pandemic, as number of daily cases (~1K) have reduced to one-sixth of the peak daily cases (~6K)
witnessed during early June. While most of the sectors have been opened, few sectors are still virtually closed and
operating below the potential capacity. Barring a second wave of Covid, we expect the economy to fully gear up by the
second quarter of fiscal year. A potential vaccine by the end of the calendar year will also al low the global activities to fully
resume in the next calendar year. With a lower base and various stimulus measures, we expect government to meet the
annual target for GDP growth. Monetary stimulus announced by central bank will pave the way to revive the growth in
cyclical industries. Moreover, government’s construction package will also provide the much needed impetus to demand
led growth.

Balance of Payment worries are over for now as current account deficit has adjusted to reasonable level since the policy
actions taken by the central government. The fall of international oil prices to USD 40/BBL has come as a blessing in
disguise. Global economy has started to recover and the news flow suggests that the exports are gaining momentum.
Remittances have also been far above the general expectations and in fact 50% YoY growth in June has surprised
everyone. Even accounting for a 10% decline in remittances, the overall situation will remain in comfortable zone. We
expect CAD to settle at 1.6% of GDP in the FY21, which can be easily financed via flows from foreign investments and
debt flows. Swift continuation of IMF program will be a key prerequisite to keep the financial account in positive zone. With
the current scenario, we expect foreign exchange reserves to further increase by USD 2 billion during the next year, which
will help alleviate any pressure on currency.

CPI is expected to tone down to an average of ~7.5% during the next year assuming average oil prices of USD 40/BBL.
Central bank has already adjusted the policy rate to 7.0% in the wake of lower expected inflation. The inflation trajectory
would remain below 7.0% during the first half of the fiscal year due to lower petroleum prices, thus causing the policy rate
to remain positive. However, during the second half as the impact of low base resumes, inflation will move above the
policy rate, which means that central bank will be prompted to adjust the interest rates under the normal economic
scenario. However, a better than expected scenario on the balance of payment side will allow central bank to continue the
current policy rate.

Fiscal department will remain an Achilles heel for the government as it is expected to remain north of 7.0%. With limited
expected growth in taxes, we believe government will not have much room to provide impetus via public development
spending. Alongside, government reliance on borrowing via domestic sources will continue to crowd out private sector
investment. In an environment where government muscles have been reined in, the importance of private sector will
continue to dominate in reviving the overall economic growth.

From capital market perspective, particularly equities, we are getting a much clearer picture now. As covid curve
continues to flatten out, the valuations are catching up with historical norms. Barring a second wave of the virus, we think
equities have a lot to offer to the investors. Market cap to GDP ratio is at 17.5%, still at a discount of 33% from its
historical average. Similarly, risk premiums are close to 4.0%, compared to historical average of 0.9% signifying decent
upside for long term investors. We believe a micro view of sectors and stock will remain more important this year and
investment selection should focus on companies which trade at a deep discount to their intrinsic value. Similarly, focus
should also revert back to companies that are expected to exhibit stellar earnings growth over the medium term.

For debt holders, we expect Money Market Funds to continue to seamlessly mirror policy rates throughout the year. On

the other hand, government bonds have priced in the anticipated yield curve. We remain cautious at the current levels of
bond yields and would continue to monitor the data points to capitalize on opportunities.
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Corporate Governance

The Fund is committed to implement the highest standards of corporate governance. With four (4) Non-Executive
Directors, three (3) Independent Directors and one (1) Executive Director on the Board, as governing body of the
Management Company, the Board is accountable to the unit holders for good corporate governance.

The Board consists of 1 female and 7 male directors. The details are as under:

Sr. Name Status Membership in other Board Committees

No.

1. Mr. Haroun Rashid Non-Executive Director None

2. Mr. Nasim Beg Non-Executive Director (i) Audit Committee; and
(ii) HR&R* Committee

3. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir Non-Executive Director (i) Audit Committee; and
(ii) HR&R* Committee.

4. Mr. Kashif A. Habib Non-Executive Director Audit Committee

5. Syed Savail Meekal Hussain Independent Director HR&R* Committee

6. Mr. Mirza Qamar Beg Independent Director (i) Audit Committee (Chairman); and
(ii) HR&R* Committee (Chairman).

7. Ms. Mavra Adil Khan Independent Director HR&R* Committee

8. Mr. Muhammad Sagib Executive Director HR&R* Committee

Saleem
* HR&R stands for Human Resource and Remuneration

Management is continuing to comply with the provisions of best practices set out in the code of corporate governance
particularly with regard to independence of non-executive directors. The Fund remains committed to conduct business in
line with listing regulations of Pakistan Stock Exchange, which clearly defined the role and responsibilities of Board of

Directors and Management.

The following specific statements are being given to comply with the requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance:
a. Financial statements present fairly its state of affairs, the results of operations, cash flows and changes in equity.
b. Proper books of accounts of the Fund have been maintained.

c. Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of financial statements and
accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

d. International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan , provisions of the Non-Banking Finance
Companies (Establishment & Regulations) Rules, 2003, Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities
Regulations, 2008, requirements of the respective Trust Deeds and directives issued by the Securities &
Exchange Commission of Pakistan have been followed in the preparation of financial statements.

e. The system of internal control is sound in design and has been effectively implemented and monitored with
ongoing efforts to improve it further.

f.  There are no doubts what so ever upon the Fund’s ability to continue as going concern.
g. There has been no material departure from the best practices of Corporate Governance.

h. Outstanding statutory payments on account of taxes, duties, levies and charges, if any have been fully disclosed
in the financial statements.
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i. The statement as to the value of investments of provident/gratuity and pension fund is not applicable on the Fund
but applies to the Management Company; hence no disclosure has been made in the Directors’ Report.

j.  As at June 30, 2020, the Company is in compliance with the requirements of Directors’ Training Program, as
contained in Regulation No. 20 of the Code.

k. The detailed pattern of unit holding, as required by NBFC Regulations are enclosed.

I.  The details of attendance of Board of Directors meeting is disclosed in financial statements. Below is the details of
committee meetings held during the year ended June 30, 2020:

1. Meeting of the Audit Committee.

During the year, eight (8) meetings of the Audit Committee were held. The attendance of each participant is as

follows:
Number of meetings
Number
of
Name of Persons meetings Attenqance Attended Leave
held required granted
Mr. Haroun Rashid (Former
1. Chairman)* 8 5 4 1
2. Mirza Qamar Beg(Chairman) 8 8 8 0
3. Mr. Nasim Beg 8 8 8 0
4, Mr. Ahmed Jahangir 8 8 7 1
5. Mr. Kashif A. Habib 8 3 3 0
6. Syed Savail Meekal Hussain 8 3 3 0

* Mr. Haroun Rashid ceased to be chairmen/member of the committee effective February 07, 2020.
**Syed Savail Meekal Hussain and Ms. Mavra Adil khan were elected on the Board on February 06, 2020.

2. Meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration Committee.

During the year, four (4) meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration Committee were held. The
attendance of each participant is as follows:

Number of meetings
Number
Name of Persons of Attendan Leav
meetings etrt:qgi?'eg Attended gr:raﬂ:d
1. Mr. Mirza Qamar Beg 4 4 4 R
2. Mr. Haroun Rashid* 4 4 4 -
3. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir 4 4 4 -
4. Mr. Nasim Beg 4 4 4 -
5. Ms. Mavra Adil Khan** 4 - - -
6. Syed Savail Meekal Hussain** 4 - - -
7 Mr. Muhammad Sagib Saleem 4 4 4 )

(CEO)
*  Mr. Haroun Rashid ceased to be member of the committee effective February 07, 2020.
Ms. Mavra Adil Khan and Syed Savail Meekal Hussain were appointed members of the committee post
elections.

*%

174 PAKISTAN INCOME ENHANCEMENT FUND




REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

m. Nil units of the Fund were carried out during the year by Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary, and Chief Int ernal Auditor of the Management Company and
their spouses and minor children.

External Auditors

The fund’s external auditors, A.F.Ferguson & Co. Chartered Accountants have expressed their willingness to continue
as the fund auditors for the ensuing year ending June 30, 2021. The audit committee of the Board has recommended
reappointment of A.F.Ferguson & Co. Chartered Accountants as auditors of the fund for the year ending June 30,
2021.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT
The Board is thankful to the Fund’s valued investors, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan and the Trustees of the
Fund for their continued cooperation and support. The Directors also appreciate the efforts put in by the management team.

On behalf of Directors,

Muhammad Saqib Saleem Nasim Beg

Chief Executive Officer Director / Vice Chairman
August 22, 2020
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Fund Type and Category

Pakistan Income Enhancement Fund— (PIEF) is an open end fund which comes under
aggressive income scheme. This fund may invest in bonds, money market placements,
certificates of deposits, certificates of Musharikas, Commercial Papers, TFCs/Sukuks and debt
securities issued by the Government of Pakistan as well as Reverse Repurchase transactions
(Reverse-REPOs) against government securities with at least 10% of the net assets shall be
invested in cash and/or near cash instruments which include cash in bank account (excluding
TDRs), Treasury bills not exceeding 90 days maturity;

Fund Benchmark
The benchmark for PIEF is One (1) year KIBOR rates.
Investment Objective

The objective of the fund is to deliver return from aggressive investment strategy in debt and
fixed income market

Manager’s Review

During the period under review, the fund generated an annualized return of 14.45% against its
benchmark return of 13.08%. WAM of fund stood at 2.6 years. At period-end, the fund was 10.0%
invested in Cash, 39.5% in TFCs, 33.3% in T-Bills and 14.2% in PIBs.

The Net Assets of the fund as at June 30, 2020 stood at Rs. 707 million as compared to Rs. 698 million
as at June 30, 2019 registering an increase of 1.3%. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit as at June 30,
2020 was Rs. 53.8942 as compared to opening NAV of Rs. 53.1512 per unit as at June 30, 2019
registering an increase of Rs. 0.743 per unit.

Asset Allocation as on June 30, 2020 (% of total assets)

Asset Allocation (%age of Total Assets) Jun-20
Others including receivables 3.0%
PIBs 14.2%
T-Bills 33.3%
TFCs/SUKUKs 39.5%
Cash 10.0%
GoP ljara Sukuk 0.0%
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Asset Quality as of June 30, 2020 (% of total assets)

Mot Ratad
AA- 3 0%

AR
Government
Securities
Al 4%.5%
9.1%
14.6%

Mr. Saad Ahmed
Fund Manager
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TRUSTEE REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

CENTRAL DEPOSITORY COMPANY
OF PAKISTAN LIMITED

Head Office

CDC House, 99-B, Block "B’
S.M.C.H.S. Main Shahra-e-Faisal
Karachi - 74400. Pakistan.

Tel: (92-21) 111-111-500

Fax: (92-21) 34326021 - 23
URL: www.cdcpakistan.com
Email: info@cdcpak. com

TRUSTEE REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS
PAKISTAN INCOME ENHANCEMENT FUND

Report of the Trustee pursuant to Regulation 41(h) and clause 9 of Schedule V of
the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008

We Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited, being the Trustee of Pakistan
Income Enhancement Fund (the Fund) are of the opinion that MCB- Arif Habib Savings
and Investments Limited being the Management Company of the Fund has in all
material respects managed the Fund during the year ended June 30, 2020 in accordance
with the provisions of the following:

(i) Limitations imposed on the investment powers of the Management Company
under the constitutive documents of the Fund;

(ii) The pricing, issuance and redemption of units are carried out in accordance with
the requirements of the constitutive documents of the Fund; and

(iti)  The Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules,
2003, the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entitics Regulations,
2008 and the constitutive documents of the Fund.

\\“\' g

Badiuddin Akber
Chief Executive Officer
Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited

Karachi: September 17, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

pwc AF-FERGUSON&CO.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Unit holders of Pakistan Income Enhancement Fund
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Pakistan Income Enhancement Fund (the Fund), which
comprise the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2020, and the income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of movement in unit holders’ fund and cash flow statement for the
vear then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Fund as at June 30, 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in
Pakistan. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
Sor the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters,

Following is the key audit matter:

| 8. No. Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

1 Net Asset Value (NAV)
(Refer notes 4 and 5 to the annexed financial
statements)

Balances with banks and Investments constitute the Our audit procedures amongst others included the
most significant components of the NAV. Balances with following:

banks of the Fund as at June 30, 2020 aggregated to Rs
78.377 million and Investments amounted to Rs
644.656 million.

The existence of balances with banks and the existence

and proper valuation of Investments for the . .
e portfolio and balances with banks as at June
determination of NAV of the Fund as at June 30, 2020 30, 2020 and traced them to the books and

was If}onsade}:‘gd a tlgh r‘ﬂ( ﬂr;a and therefore we .. 4 of the Fund, Where such confirmations
considered this as 4 key audit matter., were not available, alternate audit procedures

Q were performed;
,37 Co

A. F. FERGUSON & CO., Chartered Accountants, a member firm of the PwC network
State Life Building No. 1-C, I.I. Chundrigar Road, P.0. Box 4716, Karachi-74000, Pakistan
Tel: +92 (21) 32426682-6/32426711-5; Fax: +92 (21) 32415007/32427938/32424740; <www.pwe.com/pk>

tested the design and operating effectiveness of
the key controls for valuation of investments;

= obtained independent confirmations for
verifying the existence of the investment

» KARACHI = LAHORE = ISLAMABAD
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S. No. Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

= re-performed valuation to assess that
investments are carried as per the valuation
methodology specified in the accounting
policies; and

= obtained bank reconciliation statements and
tested reconciling items on a sample basis.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors of the Management Company for
the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors of the management company is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a hasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal contral.

Mo
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= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with board of directors of the management company regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide board of directors of the management company with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with board of directors of the management company, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare eircumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion the financial statements have been prepared in
all material respects in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Non-Banking Finance Companies
and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Noman Abbas Sheikh.

A r$ar) ¢ Co

Chartered untants
Karachi
Date: September 21, 2020
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

AS AT JUNE 30, 2020

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
------ (Rupees in '000) ------

ASSETS
Balances with banks 4 78,377 473,804
Investments 5 644,656 618,024
Interest receivable 7 12,666 9,138
Advances, deposits and prepayments 8 3,285 3,261
Receivable from the National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited 2,021 2,021
Total assets 741,005 1,106,248
LIABILITIES
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments

Limited - Management Company 9 640 1,125
Payable to Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 10 53 115
Payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 11 150 658
Payable against redemption of units 2,079 2,079
Payable against purchase of treasury bills - 369,326
Accrued and other liabilities 12 31,248 35,185
Total liabilities 34,170 408,488
NET ASSETS 706,835 697,760
Unitholders’ fund (as per statement attached) 706,835 697,760
Contingencies and Commitments 13

(Number of units)
NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE 13,115,233 13,127,815
(Rupees)

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT 3.6 53.8942 53.1512

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
(the Management Company)

Chief Executive Officer

-

Chief Financial Officer Director
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

For the year ended

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
------ (Rupees in '000) ------
INCOME
Interest income from government securities 40,080 5,339
Interest income from Term Finance Certificates 35,696 45,482
Profit on bank deposits 22,028 37,108
Capital gain / (loss) on sale of investments - net 26,330 (1,726)
Income from commercial papers - 1,705
Unrealised diminution on re-measurement of investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net 5.4 (295) (3,143)
Other income 180 960
Total income 124,019 85,725
EXPENSES
Remuneration of MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
- Management Company 9.1 11,964 11,608
Sindh sales tax on remuneration of Management Company 9.2 1,555 1,509
Allocated expenses 9.3 707 878
Selling and marketing expenses 9.4 3,078 -
Remuneration of Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 10.1 565 1,472
Sindh Sales tax on remuneration of Trustee 10.2 73 191
Annual Fee to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 11.1 150 658
Securities transaction cost 584 436
Fees and subscription 662 625
Legal and professional charges 228 219
Auditors' remuneration 14 724 605
Bank charges 241 147
Other expenses 43 52
Total expenses 20,574 18,400
Net income from operating activities 103,445 67,325
Provision for Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund (SWWF) 2,069 1,346
Net income for before taxation 101,376 65,979
Taxation 15 - _
Net income after taxation 101,376 65,979
Earnings per unit 3.12
Allocation of net income:
Net income after taxation 101,376 65,979
Income already paid on units redeemed (17,801) (19,787)
83,575 46,192
Accounting income available for distribution
- Relating to capital gains 22,292 -
- Excluding capital gains 61,283 46,192
83,575 46,192

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
(the Management Company)

e , -

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

For the year ended

June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
------ (Rupees in '000) ------

Net income for the year after taxation 101,376 65,979

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 101,376 65,979

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
(the Management Company)

e , -,

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT IN UNIT HOLDERS' FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Net assets at beginning of the year
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9
Net assets at the beginning of the year - adjusted

Issuance of 18,912,966 units (2019: 33,255,883 units)
- Capital value (at ex-net asset value per unit
at the beginning of the year)
- Element of income

Redemption of 18,925,548 units (2019: 44,304,194 units)
- Capital value (at ex-net asset value per unit
at the beginning of the year)
- Element of loss

Total comprehensive income for the year

Final distribution for the year ended June 30, 2020
@ Rs 6.9605 per unit on June 29, 2019

Refund of capital for the year ended June 30, 2020

Final distribution for the year ended June 30, 2019
@ Rs 4.1185 per unit on June 28, 2019

Refund of capital for the year ended June 30, 2019

Final distribution for the year ended June 30, 2018
@ Rs 2.7329 per unit on July 4, 2018

Refund of capital for the year ended June 30, 2018

Total distributions during the year

Net assets at end of the year

Undistributed income brought forward comprising of
- Realised
- Unrealised

Effect of adoption of IFRS 9
Undistributed income brought forward

Accounting income available for distribution
- Relating to capital gains

- Excluding capital gains

Distributions during the year

Undistributed income carried forward

Undistributed income carried forward comprising of:
- Realised
- Unrealised

Net asset value per unit at beginning of the year

Net asset value per unit at end of the year

2020

2019

Undistri-
Capital Value buted
income

Total

Capital Value

Undistri-
buted
income

Net unrealised
appreciation/
(diminution)
on available-
for-sale
investments

Total

--- (Rupees in '000) -

602,553 95,207 697,760 1,204,082 145,951 (40) 1,349,993
- - - - (40) 40 -
602,553 95,207 697,760 1,204,082 145,911 - 1,349,993
1,005,247 - 1,005,247 |]|1,766,120 - - 1,766,120
75,424 - 75,424 51,375 - - 51,375
1,080,671 - 1,080,671 1,817,495 - - 1,817,495
1,005,916 - 1,005,916 |]|2,352,863 - - 2,352,863
66,724 17,801 84,525 46,325 19,787 - 66,112
1,072,640 17,801 1,090,441 2,399,188 19,787 - 2,418,975
- 101,376 101,376 - 65,979 - 65,979
- (75,954)| (75,954) - - - -
(6,577) - (6,577) - - - "
- - - - (45,624) - (45,624)
- - - (5,037) - - (5,037)
- - - - (51,272) - (51,272)
- - - (14,799) - - (14,799)
(6,577) (75,954) (82,531) (19,836) (96,896) - (116,732)
604,007 102,828 706,835 602,553 95,207 - 697,760
149,836
(3,885)
145,951
40
145,911
46,192
46,192
96,896
102,828 95,207
103,123 98,350
295 (3,143)
102,828 95,207
(Rupees) (Rupees)
53.1512 55.8399
53.8942 53.1512

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
(the Management Company)

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

-

Director
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year before taxation

Adjustments for non cash and other items:
Unrealised diminution on re-measurement of investments

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net

Provision of Sindh Worker's Welfare Fund (SWWF)

(Increase) / decrease in assets

Investments - net

Interest receivable

Advances, deposit and prepayments

Advance against subscription of Term Finance Certificate
Receivable from the National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited

(Decrease) / Increase in liabilities

Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments

Payable to Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee
Payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
Payable against purchase of treasury bills

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend paid

Cash received from issuance of units net of refund of capital
Cash paid for redemption of units

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For the year ended

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
------ (Rupees in '000) ------
101,376 65,979
295 3,143
2,069 1,346
103,740 70,468
(396,301) 399,137
(3,528) 4,082
(24) (207)
- 22,000
- 20,942
(399,853) 445,954
(485) (1,410)
(62) (75)
(508) (720)
(369,326) 369,326
(6,006) 6,677
(376,387) 373,798
(672,500) 890,220
(75,954) (96,896)
1,074,094 1,797,659
(1,090,441) (2,418,975)
(92,301) (718,212)
(764,801) 172,008
843,178 671,170
16 78,377 843,178

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited

(the Management Company)

-~

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

-

Director
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

1. LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1 Pakistan Income Enhancement Fund (the Fund) was established through a Trust Deed executed between Arif Habib
Investments Limited (now MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited), as Management Company and Central
Depository Company of Pakistan Limited (CDC) as Trustee. The draft Trust Deed was approved by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide its letters dated June 26, 2008 and July 7, 2008 consequent to
which Trust Deed was executed on July 14, 2008 in accordance with the Asset Management Companies Rul es, 1995
(AMC Rules) repealed by the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulation) Rules, 2003 (NBFC
Rules).

1.2 The Management Company of the Fund has been licensed to act as an Asset Management Company under the Non
Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules 2003 through a certificate of registration issued
by the SECP. The registered office of the Management Company is situated at 2nd Floor, Adamjee House, .|
Chundrigar Road, Karachi, Pakistan.

1.3 The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund and has been categorised as 'Aggressive Fixed Income Scheme' by the
Board of Directors of the Management Company in accordance with the requirements of Circular 7 of 2009 dated
March 6, 2009 issued by the SECP, and offers units for public subscription on a continuous basis. The units are
transferable and can also be redeemed by surrendering to the Fund. unitholders are divided into plan 'A' and plan 'B'.
The unitholders under plan "A" are entitled for bonus units as well as cash dividend, whereas unitholders under plan
"B" are entitled for cash dividend only. The units are listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited (PSX).

1.4 The Fund primarily invests in debt securities, unlisted government securities, secured debt securities, money market
transactions, reverse repurchase transactions, spread transactions and transactions under Margin Tra ding System.

1.5 The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (PACRA) Limited has assigned Management quality rating of AM2++ dated
October 08, 2019 to the Management Company and "A+(f)" as stability rating dated May 06, 2020 to t he Fund.

1.6 Title to the assets of the Fund is held in the name of Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited as Trustee of
the Fund.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as
applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of :

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS's) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 along with part VIIIA of the repealed
Companies Ordinance, 1984; and

- Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules, 2003 (the NBFC Rules), Non-
Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (the NBFC Regulations) and the
requirements of the Trust Deed.

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 , part VIIIA of the repealed Companies
Ordinance, 1984, the NBFC rules, the NBFC Regulations and the requirements of the Trust Deed differ from the
IFRS's, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, part VIIIA of the rep ealed Companies
Ordinance, 1984, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the requirements of the Trust Deed have been
followed.

2.2 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investments
which have been marked to market and carried at fair value.

23 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards that are
effective in the current year:

There are certain amendments to the published accounting and reporting standards that are mandatory for the
Fund's annual accounting period beginning on July 1, 2019. However, these will not have any significant impact on
the Fund's operations and, therefore, have not been detailed in these financial statements.
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2.4 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards that are not
yet effective

The following amendments to published accounting and reporting standards would be effective from the dates
mentioned below against the respective amendments:

Effective date (accounting

Amendments periods beginning on or after)
- IAS 1 - 'Presentation of financial statements' (amendment) January 1, 2020
- IAS 8 - 'Accounting policies, change in accounting estimates January 1, 2020

and errors (amendment)’

These amendments may impact the financial statements of the Fund on adoption. The Management is currently in
the process of assessing the full impact of these amendments on the financial statements of the Fund .

There are certain new standards and amendments to the accounting and reporting standards that are mandatory for
the Fund's annual accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2020. However, these will not have any significant
impact on the Fund's operations and, therefore, have not been detailed in these financial statements .

2.5 Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable
in Pakistan requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Fund's accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the
estimates are revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of revision and future years if the revision
affects both current and future years.

The area where various assumptions and estimates are significant to the Fund's financial statements or where
judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies primarily related to classification, valuation and
impairment of financial assets (notes 3.2 and 5), provision for SWWF (note 12.1), provision for Federal Excise Duty
(note 12.2) and provision for taxation (notes 3.11 and 15).

2.6 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Fund operates. These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees which is the Fund's
functional and presentation currency.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

These comprise balances with banks in savings and current accounts and other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

3.2 Financial assets
3.2.1 Classification and subsequent measurement
Debt instruments
IFRS 9 has provided a criteria for debt securities whereby these debt securities are either classifi ed as:

- amortised cost
- at fair value through other comprehensive income “(FVOCI)”
- at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) based on the business model of the entity

However, IFRS 9 also provides an option whereby securities managed as a portfolio or group of assets and whose
performance is measured on a fair value basis, to be recognized at FVTPL. The Fund is primarily focused on fair
value information and uses that information to assess the assets' performance and to make decisions. Therefore the
management considers its investment in debt securities as being managed as a group of assets and hence has
classified them as FVTPL.
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Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective and are
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net
assets.

All equity investments are required to be measured in the “Statement of Assets and Liabilities” at fair value, with
gains and losses recognised in the “Income Statement”, except where an irrevocable election has been made at the
time of initial recognition to measure the investment at FVOCI. The management considers its investment in equity
securities being managed as a group of assets and hence has classified them as FVPL. Accordingly, the irrevocable
option has not been considered.

The dividend income on equity securities classified under FVPL is recognised in the Income Statement .
The Fund can also invest in equity securities for the purpose of spread transactions.
3.2.2 Impairment
The Fund assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its financial assets
(other than debt instruments as per Circular 33 of 2012) carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The Fund recognises

a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted around that is determined by evaluating a range of possible out comes;

- the time value of money; and

- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions.

The 12 months ECL is recorded for all financial assets in which there is no significant increase in credit risk from the
date of initial recognition, whereas a lifetime ECL is recorded for all remaining financial assets.

3.2.3 Impairment loss on debt securities
Provision for non-performing debt securities is made on the basis of time-based criteria as prescribed by the SECP
and based on the management's assessment made in line with its provisioning policy approved by the Board of

Directors of the Management Company in accordance with the guidelines issued by the SECP. Impairment losses
recognised on debt securities can be reversed through the Income Statement.

As allowed by the SECP, the Management Company may make provision against debt securities over and above the
minimum provision requirement prescribed by the SECP in accordance with the provisioning policy duly approved by
the Board of Directors.

3.2.4 Regular way contracts

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date on which the
Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.

3.2.5 Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised at the time the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. These are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets carried 'at
fair value through profit or loss'. Financial assets carried 'at fair value through profit or loss' are initially recognised at
fair value and transaction costs are recognised in the Income Statement.

3.2.6 Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Any gain or loss
on derecognition of financial assets is taken to the Income Statement.

3.2.7 Derivatives

Derivate instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent to initial measurement each derivative
instrument is remeasured at fair value and the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the Income St atement.
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3.3 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. These are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently stated at amortized cost using effective
interest method. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of financial liabilities is taken to the Income Statement. Financial
liabilities include payable to the Management Company and other liabilities.

3.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial labilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 'Statement of Assets and
Liabilities' when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

3.6 Net asset value per unit

The net asset value (NAV) per unit, as disclosed on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities is calculated by dividing
the net assets of the Fund by the number of units in circulation at the year end.

3.7 Issue and redemption of units

Units issued are recorded at the offer price, determined by the Management Company for the applications received
by the Management Company / distributors during business hours on that day. The offer price represents the Net
Asset Value (NAV) per unit as of the close of the business day, plus the allowable sales load and provision of any
duties, charges and transaction costs, if applicable. The sales load is payable to the Management Company /
distributors.

Units redeemed are recorded at the redemption price applicable to units for which the Management Company /
distributors receive redemption application during business hours of that day. The redemption price is equal to NAV
as of the close of the business day, less an amount as the Management Company may consider to be an
appropriate for provision of duties, charges and transactions costs, if applicable.

3.8 Element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) included in prices of units issued less those in units
redeemed

Element of income represents the difference between net asset value per unit on the issuance or redemption date,
as the case may be, of units and the net assets value per unit at the beginning of the relevant accounting period.
Further, the element of income is a transaction of capital nature and the receipt and payment of element of income is
taken to unitholders' fund. However, to maintain the same ex-dividend net asset value of all units outstanding on the
accounting date, net element of income contributed on issue of units lying in unitholders fund is refunded on units in
the same proportion as dividend bears to accounting income available for distribution.

3.9 Revenue recognition

- Interest income on government securities is recognised on an accrual basis using effective interest method.

- Income on debt securities (including term finance certificates and sukuks) is recognised on an accrual basis
using effective interest method.

- Profit on bank deposits is recognised on an accrual basis using effective interest method.
- Gains / (losses) arising on sale of investments are recorded at the date at which the transaction ta kes place.

- Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on remeasurement of investments classified as 'at fair value through profit or
loss' and derivatives are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they arise.

- Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the same is established.
3.10 Expenses

All expenses including Management fee, Trustee fee, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan fee and
allocated expenses are recognised in the Income Statement on an accrual basis.
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3.11 Taxation
Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of taxes after taking into account tax
credits and rebates, if any. The charge for current tax is calculated using the prevailing tax rates .

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary differences arising
from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of the taxable profit.

The deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse based on enacted tax rates.

The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause 99 of Part | of the Second Schedule to the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year, as
reduced by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised, is distributed amongst the unitholders in cash. Provided
that, for the purpose of determining distribution of at least 90% of the accounting income, the income distributed
through bonus units shall not be taken into account.

The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Moreover, super tax introduced in the Finance Act, 2015 is also not
applicable on funds (Section 4B of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001).

3.12 Earnings / (loss) per unit

Earnings / (loss) per unit is calculated by dividing the net income / (loss) of the year after taxation of the Fund by the
weighted average number of units outstanding during the year.

Earnings / (loss) per unit (EPU) has not been disclosed as in the opinion of the management, the determination of
cumulative weighted average number of outstanding units for calculating EPU is not practicable.

3.13 Distribution to units holders fund

Distributions to the unitholders are recognised upon declaration and approval by the Board of Directors of the
Management Company. Based on the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan's (MUFAP) guidelines duly consented
by the SECP, distribution for the year also includes portion of income already paid on units redeemed during the
year.

Distributions declared subsequent to the year end reporting date are considered as non-adjusting events and are
recognised in the financial statements of the year in which such distributions are declared and approved by the
Board of Directors of the Management Company.

3.14  Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are accounted for in Pakistani Rupees at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement and from the
translation at year end exchange rates for monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the Income Statement.

Note 2020 2019
4 BALANCES WITH BANKS (Rupees in '000)
In current account 11 12
In deposit accounts 4.1 78,366 473,792
4.2 78,377 473,804

4.1 These carry mark-up at rates ranging between 5.5% to 14.45% per annum (2019: 4.5% to 13% per annum).

4.2 These include balances held with MCB Bank Limited (a related party) of Rs 18.325 (2019: Rs 3.506) mi llion.
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June 30, June 30,
5 INVESTMENTS Note 2020 2019
(Rupees in '000)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Government securities 5.1 351,825 369,374
Listed debt securities 5.2 111,005 65,932
Unlisted debt securities 5.3 181,826 182,718
644,656 618,024
5.1 Government securities

Market Treasury Bills 51.1 246,596 369,374

Pakistan Investment Bonds 51.2 105,229 -

Sukuk Certificate 51.3 - -
351,825 369,374

5.1.1 Market Treasury Bills

Face value June 30, 2020 Market Market
Sold/ (Diminy- | valueasa | valueasa
Tenure Note Issue Date At July 01, Z“’.chased matured | AtJune | Carrying | Market | tion)/ |percentage| percentage
2019 uring the during the | 30,2020 | value value |apprecia-| ofnet of total
year year tion assets | investments
(Rupees in '000) %
Market Treasury bills
- 3 months August 16, 2019 - 850,000 850,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months January 30, 2020 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months March 12, 2020 - 450,000 450,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months April 23, 2020 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months December 19, 2019 - 225,000 225,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months October 24, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months June 4, 2020 - 175,000 175,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months July 18, 2019 - 850,000 850,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months May 23, 2019 375,000 - 375,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months November 7, 2019 - 1,150,000 1,150,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months December 5, 2019 - 125,000 125,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months March 26, 2020 - 100,000 100,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months January 2, 2020 - 520,000 520,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months February 27, 2020 - 250,000 250,000 - - - - - -
- 3 months August 1, 2019 - 450,000 450,000 - - - - - -
Market Treasury bills
- 6 months July 11, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months July 18, 2019 - 400,000 400,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months November 7, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months March 12, 2020 - 250,000 250,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months October 10, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months September 12, 2019 - 120,000 120,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months April 23, 2020 - 375,000 375,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months October 24, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 6 months April 9, 2020 - 200,000 200,000 - - - - - -
Market Treasury bills
- 12 months January 30, 2020 - 625,000 625,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months February 27, 2020 - 200,000 200,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months April 23, 2020 - 375,000 375,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months April 9, 2020 - 200,000 200,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months October 24, 2019 - 950,000 950,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months September 26, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months November 7,2019 - 750,000 750,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months March 12, 2020 - 250,000 250,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months October 10, 2019 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months August 29, 2019 - 700,000 700,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months 5.1.1.1 September 12, 2019 - 650,000 400,000 250,000 246,243 246,596 353 34.89% 38.25%
As at June 30, 2020 246,243 246,596 353
As at June 30, 2019 369,326 369,374 48

5.1.1.1 This will mature on September 10, 2020 (2019: August 15, 2019) and carries effective yield of 7.90% (2019: 11.61%)
per annum.
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5.1.2 Pakistan Investments Bonds

Face value June 30, 2020 Market Market
Sold / valueasa | valueasa
Tenure Note Issue Date At July F;urs:hased matured | AtJune | Carrying | Market |Apprecia-| Percentage | percentage
o1, 2019 | duringthe | o ingthe| 30,2020 | value | value | tion of net of total
year year assets | investments
(Rupees in '000) %
Pakistan Investment Bonds
- 3 years September 19, 2019 - 900,000 900,000 - - - - - -
- 3 years July 12,2018 - 200,000 200,000 - - - - - -
Pakistan Investment Bonds
-5 years 5.1.2.1 September 19, 2019 - 325,000 225,000 100,000 102,659 105,229 2,570 14.89% 16.32%
- 5 years July 12, 2018 - 250,000 250,000 - - - - - -
Pakistan Investment Bonds
- 10 years July 12, 2018 - 37,500 37,500 - - - - - -
- 10 years September 19, 2019 - 50,000 50,000 - - - - - -
As at June 30, 2020 102,659 105,229 2,570

As at June 30, 2019

5.1.2.1 This will mature on September 19, 2024 (2019:

5.1.3 Sukuk Certificate

Nil) and carries effective yield of 8.82% (2019: Nil).

Number of certificates Balance as at June 30, 2020 Market value as a

percentage of

Particulars

As at Purf:hased S.OId As at Carrying | Market | Unrealised Net _Total
July 01, | during the | during the | June 30, value value |(loss)/gain| assets invest-
2019 year year 2020 9 ments

(Rupees in '000) %
GOP ljara - 5 years (April-30, 2020 - April-30, 2025) - 100,000 100,000 - - - - - -

Total as at June 30, 2020
Total as at June 30, 2019

5.2

Listed debt securities - Term Finance Certificates / Sukuk Certificates

Certificates have a face value of Rs 5,000 each unless stated otherwise

Number of Certificates June 30, 2020 Market value as a
Apprecia- percentage of
Name of investee company At July 1, Pur‘.:hased Ma.tured "?Old AtJune | Carrying Market tion / total
during the | during the | during the . net i
2019 30, 2020 value value (diminu- invest-
year year year . assets
tion) ment
—meemmee-RUPEES iN '000-mmmmmmn ooeeeeeeeeen Yo =mmmrmmeennas
Commercial Bank
Habib Bank Limited - TFC - 1 - (February 19, - 500 - - 500 49,745 48,862 (883) 6.91% 7.58%
2016)*
Fertilizer
Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited 735 - - - 735 51,281 51,961 680 7.35% 0.08
(Sukuk November 16, 2017) *
Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited (Sukuk - -
March 1, 2018)* - 125 125 10,000 10,182 182 1.44% 0.02
Real Estate investment and services
Pace Pakistan Limited (15-02-08) (see note 6) 15,000 - - - 15,000 74,910
Less: Provision for impairment (74,910)
As at June 30, 2020 111,026 111,005 (21)
As at June 30, 2019 66,283 65,932 (351)

* Face value of the investment is Rs. 100,000
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5.3 Unlisted debt securities - Term Finance Certificates
Certificates have a face value of Rs 5,000 each unless stated otherwise
Number of Certificates June 30, 2020 Market value as a
percentage of
Name of investee company Asat |Purchased | Matured | Sod | Asat | . A"t‘i’;:j'a' Net | T
July 1, | during the | during the | during the June ying Market value L. invest-
value (diminu- | assets
2019 year year year 30,2020 tion) ment
[ L — (73—
Commercial Banks
Askari Bank Limited IV - TFC (September 30, 2014) (see note 5.3.1) 8,300 - - - 8,300 40,334 39,377 (957) 557% 6.30%
Askari Bank Limited VII - TFC (March 17, 2020) (see note 5.3.2)*** - 20 - - 20 20,000 20,000 - 2.83% 3.20%
Bank Al Habib Limited (March 17, 2016) TFC -l (see note 5.3.1) - 5,000 - - 5,000 24,523 23,390 (1,133) 3.31% 3.74%
The Bank of Punjab Limited (April 23, 2018)* 220 - - 220 - - - - - -
The Bank of Punjab Limited TFC - | (December 23, 2016)* 475 - - - 475 46,971 46,542 (429) 6.58% 7.45%
Jahangir Siddiqui & Company Limited - TFC -IIl (July 18, 2017) 17,000 - - - 17,000 52,617 51,932 (685) 7.35% 8.31%
Construction and Material
Byco Petroleum Limited - Sukuk (January 18, 2017) * 10 - - - 10 578 585 7 0.08% 0.00%**
Eden Housing Limited - Sukuk (March 31, 2008) 10,415 - - - 10,415 10,251
- Due but not received - (see note 6)
Less: Provision for impairment (10,251)
Total as at June 30, 2020 185,023 181,826 (3,197)
Total as at June 30, 2019 185,558 182,718  (2,840)

* Face value of the investment is Rs. 100,000
** Due to rounding-off
*** Face value of the investment is Rs. 1,000,000

5.3.1 Circular No. 33 of 2012 allows the asset manager to apply a mark up / mark down within available limit for valuation
of any specific debt security. Exercising the discretionary power, the above mentioned term finance certificates of
Askari Bank Limited and Bank Al-Habib Limited have been valued at a discretionary rate of Rs 95.0924 and Rs
93.7111 where as the reported market rates on MUFAP valuation sheet as at June 30, 2020 was Rs 94.0170 and Rs
91.7552 respectively.

5.3.2 Askari Bank Limited - Term Finance Certificates are carried at their cost as they are not valued by MUFAP.

Note June 30, June 30,
5.4 Net unrealised diminution in value of investments 2020 2019
at fair value through profit or loss (Rupees in '000)
Market value of investments 511,512, 52&5.3 644,656 618,024
Carrying value of investments 511,512, 52&5.3 644,951 621,167
(295) (3,143)
5.5 Significant terms and conditions of term finance certificates and other securities outstanding at the year end are as
follows:
. Number of Face value | Face Valfle ! Interest rate per N Secured / .
Name of security . per redemption Maturity Rating
certificates e X annum unsecured
certificate |value in total
Rupees Rupees

Listed debt securities
Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited (Sukuk) 735 100,000 70,000 3MKIBOR+1% November 16, 2022 Secured AA
Dawood Hercules Corporation Limited (Sukuk) 125 100,000 80,000 3M KIBOR+1% March 1, 2023 Secured AA
Habib Bank Limited (TFC - 1) 500 100,000 99,840 6M KIBOR+0.5% February 19, 2026 Unsecured AAA
Unlisted debt securities
Askari Bank Limited IV - TFC 8,300 5,000 4,989 6M KIBOR+1.2% September 30, 2024 Unsecured AA-
Askari Bank Limited VIl - TFC 20 1,000,000 1,000,000 3M KIBOR+1.2% March 17, 2030 Unsecured AA
Bank Al Habib Limited TFC Il 5,000 5,000 4,992 6M KIBOR+0.75% March 17, 2026 Unsecured AA-
The Bank of Punjab Limited - TFC | 475 100,000 99,860 6M KIBOR+1.25% April 23, 2028 Unsecured AA-
Jahangir Siddiqui & Company Limited. - TFC IlI 17,000 5,000 3,125 6M KIBOR+1.4% July 18, 2022 Secured AA+
Byco Petroleum Limited (Sukuk) 10 100,000 58,333 3M KIBOR+1.05% January 18, 2022 Secured AAA
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6. DETAILS OF NON-COMPLIANT INVESTMENT WITH THE INVESTMENT CRITERIA AS SPECIFIED BY THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN

In accordance with Clause (v) of the investment criteria laid down for 'Aggressive Fixed Income Scheme' in Circular
no. 7 of 2009, the Fund is required to invest in any security having rating not lower than the investment grade (credit
rating of BBB and above). However, as at June 30, 2020, the Fund is non-compliant with the above mentioned
requirement in respect of the following investments. The securities were in compliance of the Circular (i.e. investment
grade) at the time of purchase and were subsequently downgraded to non investment grade by MUFAP on default by
respective issuer in repayment of coupon due on respective dates. The Fund holds 100% provision against such
investments as enumerated below:

i . Value of N . Value of Percentage
Category of non-compliant investment | Provision | investment | Percentage
: Name of Company . of gross
investment beflm:e held, if any aftlell' of net assets assets
provision provision
----------- Rs in '000-----------
Investment in debt securities a) Pace Pakistan Limited (see note 5.2) 74,910 74,910 - - -
b) Eden Housing Limited (see note 5.3) 10,251 10,251 - - -
June 30, June 30,
Note 2020 2019
7. INTEREST RECEIVABLE ~  ameme (Rupees in '000)------
Interest on:
- Term finance certificates 9,320 7,106
- Government securities 2,685 -
- Deposit accounts 661 2,032
12,666 9,138
8. ADVANCES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
Advance tax 8.1 294 287
Deposits with:
- National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited 2,500 2,500
- Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited 200 200
Prepayments 291 274
3,285 3,261

8.1 As per clause 47(B) of part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, payments made to
collective investment schemes (CISs) are exempt from withholding tax under section 151 and 150. However, during
the year ended June 30, 2020, withholding tax on profit on bank balances and profit on debt securities to the Fund
was deducted by various withholding agents based on the interpretation issued by FBR vide letter C. No. 1(43) DG
(WHT)/2008-VOL.11-66417-R dated 12 May 2015 which requires every withholding agent to withhold income tax at
applicable rates in case a valid exemption certificate under section 159(1) issued by the concerned Commissioner of
Inland Revenue (CIR) is not produced before him by the withholdee. The tax withheld on profit on bank balances and
profit on debt securities amounts to Rs. 0.294 million (2019: Rs. 0.287 million).

For this purpose, the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) on behalf of various mutual funds (including
the Funds being managed by the Management Company) had filed a petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court
(SHC) challenging the above mentioned interpretation of the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) which was decided by
the SHC in favour of FBR. On January 28, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Management Company passed a
resolution by circulation, authorising all CISs to file an appeal in the Honourable Supreme Court through their
Trustees, to direct all persons being withholding agents, including share registrars and banks to observe the
provisions of clause 47B of Part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 without imposing any
conditions at the time of making any payment to the CISs being managed by the Management Company.
Accordingly, a petition was filed in the Supreme Court of Pakistan by the Funds together with other CISs (managed
by the Management Company and other Asset Management Companies) whereby the Supreme Court granted the
petitioners leave to appeal from the initial judgement of the SHC. Pending resolution of the matter, the amount of
withholding tax deducted on profit received by the Fund on profit on bank balances has been shown as other
receivables as at June 30, 2020. In the opinion of the management, the amount of tax deducted at source will be
refunded.
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Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

9 PAYABLE TO MCB-ARIF HABIB INVESTMENTS AND
SAVINGS LIMITED - MANAGEMENT COMPANY

Management remuneration payable 9.1 179 878
Sindh Sales Tax payable on remuneration of the
Management Company 9.2 23 114
Allocated expenses payable 9.3 17 60
Selling and marketing expenses payable 9.4 392 -
Sales load payable 29 73
640 1,125

9.1 As per regulation 61 of the NBFC Regulations, 2008, the Management Company is entitled to a remuneration equal
to an amount not exceeding the maximum limit as disclosed in the Offering Document subject to the total expense
ratio limit. Keeping in view the maximum allowable threshold, the management company has charged remuneration
at the rate of 1.5% (2019: 1.5%) of the average annual net assets of the Fund during the year ended June 30, 2020.
The remuneration is payable to the Management Company monthly in arrears.

9.2 During the year, an amount of Rs 1.555 million (2019: Rs 1.509 million) was charged on account of sales tax on
management remuneration levied through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011 and an amount of Rs 1,646
million (2019: Rs. Rs 1.588 million) has been paid on account of sales tax on management remuneration to the
Management Company which acts as a collecting agent.

9.3 In accordance with Regulation 60 of the NBFC Regulations, the Management Company is entitled to char ge fees and
expenses related to registrar services, accounting, operation and valuation services, related to a Collective
Investment Scheme (CIS).

Until June 19, 2019 there was a maximum cap of 0.1% of the average annual net assets of the scheme or actual
whichever is less, for allocation of such expense to the Fund. However, the SECP vide its SRO 639 dated June 20,
2019 removed the maximum cap of 0.1%.

The Management Company has allocated expenses to the Fund based on its discretion subject to not being higher
than actual expense, which has also been approved by the Board of Directors of the Management Compan y.

9.4 The SECP has allowed the Asset Management Companies to charge selling and marketing expenses to all
categories of open-end mutual funds (except fund of funds) initially for a period of three years (i.e. from January 1,
2017 till December 31, 2019). The maximum cap of selling and marketing expense was 0.4% per annum of the net
assets of the Fund or actual expenses whichever is lower.

During the year, the SECP through its circular 11 dated July 5, 2019 has revised the conditions for charging of selling
and marketing expenses to a Fund. As per the revised guidelines, the maximum cap of 0.4% per annum has been
lifted and now the asset management company is required to set a maximum limit for charging of such expense to
the Fund and the same should be approved by the Board of Directors of the Asset management Company (BOD) as
part of annual plan. Furthermore, the time limit of three years has also been removed in the revised conditions.

The Management Company has charged selling and marketing expenses to the Fund based on its discretion subject
to not being higher than actual expense, which has also been approved by the BOD of the Management C ompany.

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

10 PAYABLE TO CENTRAL DEPOSITORY COMPANY
OF PAKISTAN LIMITED - TRUSTEE

Trustee remuneration payable 101 47 102
Sindh Sales Tax payable on trustee remuneration 10.2 6 13
53 115
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10.1 The Trustee is entitled to a monthly remuneration for services rendered to the Fund under the provisions of the Trust
Deed. During the year, the Trustee with effect from July 1, 2019 has revised its tariff as follows:

Existing Tariff Revised Tariff
Net Assets (Rs.) Fee (Flat Rate)
-Up to Rs.1 billion 0.17% per annum of Net Assets 0.075% p.a. of
- Rs.1 billion to Rs.5 billion |Rs.1.7 million plus 0.085% per annum of net assets exceeding Rs.1 billion -Net Ass-eté
- Over Rs.5 billion Rs.5.1 million plus 0.07% per annum of net assets exceeding Rs.5 billion

Accordingly, the Fund has charged the Trustee Fee at the rate of 0.075% per annum of net assets duri ng the year.

10.2 During the year, an amount of Rs 0.73 million (2019: Rs 0.191 million) was charged on account of sales tax on
remuneration of the Trustee levied through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011 and an amount of
Rs 0.80 million (2019: 0.20 million) on account of sales tax on remuneration of trustee was paid to the Trustee which
acts as a collecting agent.

Note June 30, June 30,
11 PAYABLE TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 2020 2019
COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN (SECP) emmeees (Rupees in '000)------
Annual fee 11.1 150 658

11.1 In accordance with the NBFC Regulations, a Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is required to pay annual fee to the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

Effective from July 1, 2019, the SECP vide SRO No. 685(1)/2019 dated June 28, 2019, revised the rate of annual fee
to 0.02% of net assets, applicable on all categories of CISs, Accordingly, the Fund has charged SECP Fee at the
rate of 0.02% of net assets during the current period. Previously, the rate of annual fee applicable to aggressive fixed
income scheme was 0.075%.
June 30, June 30,
Note 2020 2019

12 ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Provision for Sindh workers' welfare fund 12.1 8,452 6,383
Provision for federal excise duty payable on 12.2
- Management fee 16,590 16,590
- Sales load 4,746 4,746
Brokerage payable 34 72
Capital gain tax payable 651 71
Auditors' remuneration payable 396 351
Printing expense payable 40 40
Zakat payable - 14
Dividend payable - 6,802
Legal advisor payable 20 75
Other payable 319 41
31,248 35,185

12.1 Provision for Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund

As a consequence of the 18th amendment to the Constitution of Pakistan, in May 2015 the Sindh Workers’ Welfare
Fund Act, 2014 (SWWF Act) had been passed by the Government of Sindh as a result of which every industrial
establishment located in the Province of Sindh, the total income of which in any accounting year is not less than Rs
0.50 million, was required to pay Sindh Workers’ Welfare Fund (SWWF) in respect of that year amounting to a sum
equal to two percent of such income. The matter was taken up by MUFAP with the Sindh Revenue Board (SRB)
collectively on behalf of various asset management companies and their CISs whereby it was contested that mutual
funds should be excluded from the ambit of the SWWF Act as these were not industrial establishments but were
pass through investment vehicles and did not employ workers. The SRB held that mutual funds were included in the
definition of financial institutions as per the Financial Institution (Recovery of Finances) Ordinance, 2001 and were,
hence, required to register and pay SWWF under the SWWF Act. Thereafter, MUFAP had taken up the matter with
the Sindh Finance Ministry to have CISs / mutual funds excluded from the applicability of SWWF. In view of the
above developments regarding the applicability of SWWF on CISs/mutual funds, MUFAP recommended that, as a
matter of abundant caution, provision in respect of SWWF should be made on a prudent basis with effect from the
date of enactment of the SWWF Act, 2014 (i.e. starting from May 21, 2015).
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Had the provision for SWWF not been recorded in the financial statements of the Fund for the period from May 21,
2015 to June 30, 2020, the net asset value of the Fund as at June 30, 2020 would have been higher by Re. 0.64
(2019: Re 0.49) per unit.

12.2 Federal Excise Duty payable

The Finance Act, 2013 enlarged the scope of Federal Excise Duty (FED) on financial services to include Asset
Management Companies (AMCs) as a result of which FED at the rate of 16 percent on the remuneration of the
Management Company and sales load was applicable with effect from June 13, 2013. The Management Company
was of the view that since the remuneration was already subject to provincial sales tax, further levy of FED would
result in double taxation which did not appear to be the spirit of the law. Hence, on September 4, 2013 a
constitutional petition was filed with the Sindh High Court (SHC) by the Management Company together with various
other asset management companies challenging the levy of FED.

With effect from July 1, 2016, FED on services provided or rendered by non-banking financial institutions dealing in
services which are subject to provincial sales tax has been withdrawn by the Finance Act, 2016.

During the year ended June 30, 2017, the SHC passed an order whereby all notices, proceedings taken or pending,
orders made, duty recovered or actions taken under the Federal Excise Act, 2005 in respect of the rendering or
providing of services (to the extent as challenged in any relevant petition) were set aside. In response to this, the
Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue has filed a Civil Petition for leave to appeal in the Supreme Court of Pakistan
which is pending adjudication.

In view of the above, the Fund has discontinued making further provision in respect of FED on remuneration of the
Management Company with effect from July 1, 2016. However, as a matter of abundant caution the provision for
FED made for the period from June 13, 2013 till June 30, 2016 amounting to Rs 21.336 million is being retained in
the financial statements of the Fund as the matter is pending before the Supreme Court of Pakistan. Had the
provision for FED not been recorded in the financial statements of the Fund, the net assets value of the Fund as at
June 30, 2020 would have been higher by Rs 1.63 (2019: Rs 1.63) per unit.

13 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There were no contingencies and commitments outstanding as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019.

June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

14 AUDITORS' REMUNERATION s (Rupees in '000)------
Annual audit fee 297 275
Half yearly review fee 181 160
Other certifications 50 50
Out of pocket expenses 196 120
724 605

15 TAXATION

The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause (99) of part | of the Second Schedule to the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of the accounting income for the year as
reduced by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised, is distributed amongst the unitholders as cash dividend.
Furthermore, as per Regulation 63 of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008,
the Fund is required to distribute not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year derived from sources other
than capital gains as reduced by such expenses as are chargeable thereon to the unitholders. Since the
management has distributed the required minimum percentage of income earned by the Fund for the year ended
June 30, 2020 to the unitholders in the manner as explained above, no provision for taxation has been made in these
financial statements during the year.

The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of Section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the
Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

204 PAKISTAN INCOME ENHANCEMENT FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF THEYEAR =eeeees (Rupees in '000)------
Balances with banks 4 78,377 473,804
Treasury bills - 3 months 511 - 369,374
78,377 843,178

17 TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO

The Total Expense Ratio (TER) of the Fund for the year is 3% which includes 0.51% representing government levies
on the Fund such as provision for Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund, Sindh Sales tax, Federal Excise Duties, Annual fee
to the SECP etc. This ratio is within the maximum limit of 2.5% prescribed under the NBFC Regulations for a
collective investment scheme categorised as an aggressive fixed income scheme.

18 TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES OUTSTANDING WITH CONNECTED PERSONS / OTHER RELATED PARTIES

Related parties / connected persons of the Fund include the Management Company, other collective investment
schemes managed by the Management Company, MCB Bank Limited being the Holding Company of the
Management Company, the Trustee, directors, key management personnel and other associated undertakings and
connected persons. Connected persons also include any person beneficially owing directly or indirectly 10% or more
of the units in the issue / net assets of the Fund.

Transactions with connected persons essentially comprise sale and redemption of units, fee on account of managing
the affairs of the Fund, other charges, sale and purchase of investments and distribution payments to connected
persons. The transactions with connected persons are in the normal course of business, at contracted rates and at
terms determined in accordance with market rates.

Remuneration to the Management Company of the Fund is determined in accordance with the provision of the NBFC
Regulations and the Trust Deed.

Remuneration to the Trustee of the Fund is determined in accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed.

The details of transactions and balances at year end with related parties / connected persons are as follows:

18.1 Details of transactions with connected persons are as follows: For the year ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited - Management Company

Remuneration including indirect taxes 13,519 13,117
Allocated expenses 707 878
Selling and marketing expense 3,078 -

Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee

Remuneration including indirect taxes 638 1,663
CDC Settlement charges 21 27
MCB Bank Limited

Profit on bank deposits 244 17
Bank charges 11 18
Sale of securities - Face Value: 500,000,000 (2019: Nil) 444,029 -
Silk Bank Limited™*

Sale of securities - Face Value Nil (2019: Rs. 300,000,000) - 293,154
Profit on bank deposits - 20,031
Bank charges - 55

Arif Habib Limited
Brokerage* 47 -

*

The amount disclosed represents the amount of brokerage paid to connected persons and not the purchase or sale value of
securities transacted through them. The purchase or sale value has not been treated as transactions with connected persons as the
ultimate counter parties are not connected persons.

** No longer related party for the year ended June 30, 2020
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For the year ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

Next Capital Limited
Brokerage* 50 31

Note June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

18.2 Amounts outstanding at year end

MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited - Management Company

Management remuneration payable 179 878
Sindh Sales Tax payable on remuneration of the Management Company 23 114
Allocated expenses payable 17 60
Selling and marketing expenses payable 392 -

Sales load payable 29 73

Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee

Trustee remuneration payable 47 102
Sindh Sales Tax payable on trustee remuneration 6 13
Security deposits 200 200

MCB Bank Limited
Bank deposits held 18,325 3,506

Next Capital Limited
Brokerage* 5 19

Silk Bank Limited**
Bank deposit held - 515
Accrued profit on bank profit - 40

*

The amount disclosed represents the amount of brokerage paid to connected persons and not the purchase or sale value of
securities transacted through them. The purchase or sale value has not been treated as transactions with connected persons as the
ultimate counter parties are not connected persons.

*:

*

No longer related party for the year ended June 30, 2020

18.3 Transactions during the year with connected persons / related parties in units of the Fund:

For the Year Ended ended June 30, 2020

As at July Issued Redeemed As at June || As atJuly Issued Redeemed As at June
01, 2019 for cash 30, 2020 01, 2019 for cash 30,2020
Units [T Y L[] P ———————
Associated companies:
MCB Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited - 5 5 - - 1 1
Security General Insurance Company
Limited Employees Provident Fund Trust 41,471 5,338 - 46,809 2,204 289 - 2,523
Mandate under discretionary
portfolio services 7 1 - 8 - 1 - -
Key management personnel * - 106,288 106,288 - - 5,932 5,934
Unit holders holding 10% or more units 1,676,950 215,853 - 1,892,804 89,132 11,672 - 102,011

* This reflects the position of related party / connected persons status as at June 30, 2020.
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For the Year Ended ended June 30, 2019

As at July Issued Redeemed As at June || AsatJuly Issued Redeemed As at June
01,2018 for cash 30,2019 01, 2018 for cash 30, 2019
Units [ L) T ——
Associated companies:
MCB Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited - 17,652,684 17,652,684 - - 962,835 963,509 -
Security General Insurance Company
Limited Employees Provident Fund Trust 36,603 4,868 - 41,471 2,044 202 - 2,204
Fatima Fertilizer Company Limited
Management Staff Gratuity Fund 183,106 9,423 192,529 - 10,225 225 10,300 -
Mandate under discretionary
portfolio services 833,767 2,354,773 3,188,533 7 84,637 131,937 176,570 -
Key management personnel 17 10,210 10,227 - 1 576 580 -
Unit holders holding 10% or more units 3,929,900 181,132 4,111,032 - 219,445 6,350 219,397 -
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY = e R R R R ——
. At fair value
At amortised through profit Total
cost
or loss
--------------------------- (Rupees in'000) -----===========nnnnneeeeev
Financial assets
Balances with banks 78,377 - 78,377
Investments - 644,656 644,656
Interest receivable 12,666 - 12,666
Deposits 2,700 - 2,700
Receivable from National Clearing Company of
Pakistan Limited 2,021 - 2,021
95,764 644,656 740,420
-------------------- June 30, 2020 -----==-—ccmmemmmeee g
At fair value .
through profit At amortised Total
cost
or loss
---------------------------- (Rupees in'000) ---=--===============uum--
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments
Limited - Management Company - 640 640
Payable to Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited - Trustee - 53 53
Payable against redemption of units - 2,079 2,079
Accrued and other liabilities - 809 809
- 3,581 3,581
--------------------- June 30, 2019 --——--mcccmmeooeeeee
. At fair value
Atamortised through profit Total
cost
or loss
----------------------------- (Rupees in'000) --=-======mmmsmmmmmnannmans
Financial assets
Balances with banks 473,804 - 473,804
Investments - 618,024 618,024
Interest receivable 9,138 - 9,138
Deposits 2,700 - 2,700
Receivable from National Clearing Company of -
Pakistan Limited 2,021 - 2,021
487,663 618,024 1,105,687
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--------------------- June 30, 2019 -=-s=m=mmmmmmmmmnmnd
At fair value .
through profit At amortised Total
or loss cost
---------------------------- (Rupees in"000) ========sssmmmsemmmmeenns
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments
Limited - Management Company - 1,125 1,125
Payable to Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited- Trustee - 115 115
Payable against redemption of units - 2,079 2,079
Payable against purchase of treasury bills - 369,326 369,326
Accrued and other liabilities - 7,395 7,395

- 380,040 380,040

20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s objective in managing risk is the protection of unitholders’ value. Risk is inherent in the Fund’s activities,
but it is managed through monitoring and controlling activities which are primarily set up to be performed based on
limits established by the Management Company, the constitutive documents of the Fund and the regulations and
directives of the SECP. These limits reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Fund as well as the
level of the risk that the Fund is willing to accept. The Board of Directors of the Management Company supervises
the overall risk management approach within the Fund. The Fund is exposed to market risk, liquidity risk and credit
risk arising from the financial instruments it holds.

20.1 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices.

The Management Company manages the market risk through diversification of the investment portfolio and by
following the internal guidelines established by the Investment Committee.

Market risk comprises of three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk .
20.1.1 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund does not have any financial instrument in foreign currencies and hence
is not exposed to such risk.

20.1.2 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest rates. As of June 30, 2020, the Fund is exposed to such risk on its balances held with
banks, investments in term finance certificates, investment in sukuk certificates and investment in government
securities. The Investment Committee of the Fund reviews the portfolio of the Fund on a regular basis to ensure that
the risk is managed within the acceptable limits.

a) Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

As at June 30, 2020, the Fund holds KIBOR based interest bearing term finance and sukuk certificates exposing the
Fund to cash flow profit rate risk. In case of 100 basis points increase / decrease in KIBOR on the last repricing date
with all other variables held constant, the net assets of the Fund and net income for the year would have been higher
/ lower by Rs 2.928 million (2019: Rs 2.486 million).

The Fund is also exposed to mark-up rate risk on bank deposits. In case of 100 basis points increase / decrease in

KIBOR at year end, the net assets of the Fund and net income for the year would have been higher / lower by Rs
0.784 million (2019: Rs 4.738 million).
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b) Sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

As at June 30, 2020, the Fund holds government securities which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
exposing the Fund to fair value interest rate risk. In case of 100 basis points increase / decrease in rates announced
by Financial Market Association of Pakistan (FMAP) on June 30, 2020, with all other variables held constant, the net
assets of the Fund and the net income for the year would have been higher / lower by Rs 3.518 million (2019: higher
/ lower by Rs 3.694 million).

The composition of the Fund's investment portfolio, KIBOR rates and rates announced by FMAP is expected to
change over time. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis prepared as of June 30, 2020 is not necessarily indicative of
the impact on the Fund's net assets of future movements in interest rates.

Yield / interest rate sensitivity position for on-balance sheet financial instruments is based on the earlier of
contractual repricing or maturity date and for off-balance sheet instruments is based on the settlem ent date.

The Fund's interest rate sensitivity related to financial assets and financial liabilities as at June 30, 2020 can be
determined as follows:

June 30, 2020

More than Not exposed
Yield / effective interestrate (%) | P t© three | threemonths | More than |y ) gopg
months | anduptoone| oneyear |. .
interest risk
year
Rupees in '000
On-balance sheet financial instruments
Financial Assets
Balances with banks 5.5% to 14.45% 78,366 - - 1 78,377
Investments
at fair value through profit and loss - net
- Market Treasury Bills 7.90% 246,596 - - - 246,596
- Pakistan Investments Bonds 8.82% - - 105,229 - 105,229
- Listed debt securities 3M Kibor+1% to 6M Kibor+0.5% 62,143 48,862 - - 111,005
- Unlisted debt securities 3M Kibor+0.75% to 6M Kibor 1.4% 20,585 161,241 - - 181,826
329,324 210,103 105,229 - 644,656
Interest receivable - - - 12,666 12,666
Security deposits - - - 2,700 2,700
Receivable from National Clearing
Company of Pakistan Limited - - - 2,021 2,021

407,690 210,103 105,229 17,398 740,420

Financial Liabilities

Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments
Limited - Management Company - - - 640 640
Payable to Central Depository Company
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee - - - 53 53
Payable against redemption of units - - - 2,079 2,079
Accrued and other liabilities - - - 809 809
- - - 3,581 3,581
On-balance sheet gap (a) 407,690 210,103 105,229 13,817 736,839

Off-balance sheet financial instruments - - - - -

Off-balance sheet gap (b) - - - - -

Total interest rate sensitivity gap (a+b) 407,690 210,103 105,229

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 407,690 617,793 723,022
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June 30, 2019
More than Not exposed
Yield / effective interest rate (%) Uptothree | three months | More than to yield/ Total
months | anduptoone| oneyear |. .
interest risk
year
Rupees in '000
On-balance sheet financial instruments
Financial Assets
Balances with banks 4.5% to 13% 473,792 - - 12 473,804
Investments
at fair value through profit and loss - net
- Government securities 11.61% 369,374 - - - 369,374
- Listed debt securities 3M Kibor+1% 65,932 - - - 65,932
- Unlisted debt securities 3M Kibor+0.75% to 6M Kibor 1.4% 908 - 181,810 - 182,718
436,214 - 181,810 - 618,024
Interest receivable - - - 9,138 9,138
Security deposits - - - 2,700 2,700
Receivable from National Clearing
Company of Pakistan Limited - - - 2,021 2,021
910,006 - 181,810 13,871 1,105,687
Financial Liabilities
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments
Limited - Management Company - - - 1,125 1,125
Payable to Central Depository Company
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee - - - 115 115
Payable against redemption of units - - - 2,079 2,079
Payable against purchase of treasury bills - - - 369,326 369,326
Accrued and other liabilities - - - 7,395 7,395
- - - 380,040 380,040
On-balance sheet gap (a) 910,006 - 181,810  (366,169) 725,647
Off-balance sheet financial instruments - - - - -
Off-balance sheet gap (b) - - - - -
Total interest rate sensitivity gap (a+b) 910,006 - 181,810
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 910,006 843,166 1,091,816

20.1.3 Pricerisk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices (other than those arising from interest risk or currency risk) whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market. The Fund does not hold any financial instruments that exposes it to price risk .

21.2 Creditrisk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if counter parties fail
completely to perform as contracted.

The Fund is exposed to counter party credit risks on investment in term finance certificates, sukuks, balances with
bank and other receivable balances. The credit risk on the Fund is limited because the counterparties are financial
institutions with reasonably high credit ratings. Investments in Treasury bills are government backed and hence
considered as secured.

The Fund has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. This information is supplied by the
independent rating agencies, where available, and if not available, the Fund uses other publicly available financial
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Fund's exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and spread amongst approved counterparties.
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Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed in accordance with the Fund's policy.
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each
counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risk and therefore mitigate financial loss through

potential counterparty failure.

The table below analyses the Fund's maximum exposure to credit risk:

2020 2019
Balance as per Maximum Balance as per Maximum
statement of statement of
exposure to exposure to
assets and L. assets and L
S, credit risk R credit risk
liabilities liabilities
---------------- Rupees in '000----------------
Balances with banks 78,377 78,377 473,804 473,804
Investments in government securities 351,825 - 369,374 -
Investments in debt securities 292,831 292,831 248,650 248,650
Interest receivable 12,666 9,981 9,138 9,138
Deposits 2,700 2,700 2,700 2,700
Receivable from National Clearing Company of
Pakistan Limited 2,021 2,021 2,021 2,021
740,420 385,910 1,105,687 736,313

Difference in the balance as per statement of asset and liabilities and maximum exposure is due to the fact that
investments in government securities of Rs. 351.825 million (2019: Rs. 369.374 million) and profit receivable from
these securities of Rs. 2.685 million (2019: Nil) are not exposed to credit risk.

The analysis below summaries the credit rating quality of the Fund's financial assets as at June 30, 2020 and June
30, 2019:

Bank Balances by rating category 2020 2019
%

AAA 79.15 98.25

AA+ 20.65 1.23

AA 0.03 0.00

AA- 0.02 0.12

A+ 0.10 0.11

A 0.04 0.18

A- 0.01 0.11
100.00 100.00

The analysis below summarizes the credit quality of the Fund's investment in government securities, term finance
certificates and sukuks as at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019:

June 30, June 30,
Investments by rating category 2020 2019
%
Government Securities 54.58 0.37
AAA 17.22 26.52
AA, AA-, AA+ 28.20 73.12
100.00 100.00

Investment in fixed income securities

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic or industry factors similarly affect groups of
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Fund’'s total credit exposure. The
Fund’s portfolio of financial instruments is broadly diversified and transactions are entered into with diverse credit-
worthy counterparties thereby mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk.
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Settlement risk

The Fund's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions. Settlement risk is the risk of loss
due to the failure of counter party to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually
agreed. Credit risk relating to unsettled transactions in securities is considered to be minimal as the Fund uses
brokers with high creditworthiness and the transactions are settled or paid for only upon delivery using the central
clearing system.

21.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its obligation in
full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous to the Fund.

The Fund is exposed to daily redemptions at the option of unitholders. The Fund's approach to managing liquidity is
to ensure, as far as possible, that the Fund will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due under
both normal and stressed conditions. The Fund's policy is, therefore, to invest the majority of its assets in
investments that are traded in an active market and can be readily disposed of and are considered re adily realisable.

As per the NBFC Regulations, the Fund can borrow in the short-term to ensure settlement the maximum limit of
which is fifteen percent of the net assets upto 90 days and would be secured by the assets of the Fu nd.

In order to manage the Fund's overall liquidity, the Fund may also withhold daily redemption requests in excess of
ten percent of the units in issue and such requests would be treated as redemption requests qualifying for being
processed on the next business day. Such procedure would continue until the outstanding redemption requests
come down to a level below ten percent of the units then in issue. The Fund did not withhold any redemptions during
the year.

The table below analyses the Fund's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

June 30, 2020
More than | More than More than Financial
s one month three .
Within 1 one year | More than | instruments
and upto |months and . . Total
month and upto 5years | with no fixed
three upto one ! .
five years maturity
months year
Rupees in '000 ---
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and
Investments Limited - Management Company 640 - - - - - 640
Payable to Central Depository Company
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 53 - - - - - 53
Payable against redemption of units 2,079 - - - - - 2,079
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 809 - - - - - 809
3,581 - - - - - 3,581
June 30, 2019
More than | More than More than Financial
s one month three .
Within 1 one year | More than | instruments
and upto |months and . . Total
month and upto 5years | with no fixed
three upto one X .
five years maturity
months year
Rupees in '000
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB-Arif Habib Savings and
Investments Limited - Management Company 1,125 - - - - - 1,125
Payable to Central Depository Company
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 115 - - - - - 115
Payable against redemption of units 2,079 - - - - - 2,079
Payable against purchase of treasury bills 369,326 - - - - - 369,326
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,395 - - - - - 7,395
380,040 - - - - - 380,040
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21 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise between carrying values

and the fair value estimates.

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Fund is a going concern without any intention or
requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adver se terms.

Financial assets which are tradable in an open market are revalued at the market prices prevailing on the statement
of assets and liabilities date. The estimated fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities is considered not to
be significantly different from the respective book values.

Fair Value Hierarchy

International Financial Reporting Standard 13, 'Fair Value Measurement' requires the Fund to classify assets using a
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobse rvable inputs).

As at June 30, 2020, the Fund held the following financial instruments measured at fair values:

June 30, 2020
Level1 [] Level2 ] Level3 ] Total
(Rupees in '000)

ASSETS
Government securities - 351,825 - 351,825
Listed debt securities - 111,005 - 111,005
Unlisted debt securities - 181,826 - 181,826

- 644,656 - 644,656

June 30, 2019
Level1 || Level2 || Level3 || Total
(Rupees in '000)

ASSETS
Government securities - 369,374 - 369,374
Listed debt securities - 65,932 - 65,932
Unlisted debt securities - 182,718 - 182,718

- 618,024 - 618,024

22 UNITHOLDERS' FUND RISK MANAGEMENT

The unitholders' fund is represented by redeemable units. These units are entitled to dividends and to payment of
their proportionate share of the Fund's Net Asset Value per unit on the redemption date. The relevant movements
are shown on the 'Statement of Movement in Unitholders' Fund'.

The Fund has no restriction on the subscription and redemption of units. As required under the NBFC Regulations,
every open end scheme shall maintain fund size (i.e. net assets of the Fund) of Rs 100 million at all times during the
life of the scheme. The Fund has historically maintained and complied with the requirement of minimum fund size at
all times.

The Fund's objectives when managing unitholders' funds are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern
so that it can continue to provide returns to the unitholders and to maintain a strong base of assets to meet
unexpected losses or opportunities.

In accordance with the risk management policies as stated in note 20, the Fund endeavours to invest the

subscriptions received in appropriate investment avenues while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemptions,
such liquidity being augmented by disposal of investments or short-term borrowings, where necessary.
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23 PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT COMMITTEE AND FUND MANAGER

Details of members of the Investment Committee of the Fund are as follows:

S. Name Designation Qualification E)_(perlence
No. in years

1 Mr. Muhammad Saqib Saleem Chief Executive Officer FCA & FCCA 22.5

2  Mr. Muhammad Asim Chief Investment Officer MBA & CFA 17

3  Mr. Awais Abdul Sattar Head of Research MBA & CFA 8.8

4  Mr. Saad Ahmed Head of Fixed Income MBA 14.3

5 Mr. Syed Mohammad Usama Igbal Fund Manager Graduate 16.3

23.1 Mr. Saad Ahmed is the Fund manager. Details of the other funds being managed by him are as follows:

- MCB Cash Management Optimizer;
- MCB DCF Income Fund;

- MCB Pakistan Sovereign Fund;

- Alhamra Daily Dividend Fund.

- Pakistan Cash Management Fund

2020
24 TOP TEN BROKERS / DEALERS BY PERCENTAGE OF COMMISSION PAID (Percentage)
1 Continental Exchange Private Limited 29.87%
2 Invest One Markets Private Limited 17.58%
3 BIPL Securities Limited 12.69%
4 C And M Management Private Limited 5.71%
5 lcon Securities Private Limited 4.89%
6 Paramount Capital Private Limited 4.40%
7 Bright Capital Private Limited 4.28%
8 Arif Habib Limited 3.42%
9 Next Capital Limited 3.04%
10 JS Global Capital Limited 2.27%
2019~
(Percentage)
1 JS Global Capital Limited 49.29%
2 Next Capital Limited 37.50%
3 Invest One Markets Private Limited 5.50%
4 Continental Exchange Private Limited 4.14%
5 BMA Capital Management Limited 3.57%
6 Maturity ** -
7 Direct ** -
* The Fund used only seven brokers during the year ended June 30, 2019
* Nil figures due to rounding off
25 PATTERN OF UNITHOLDINGS As at June 30, 2020
Number of Number of Investment Percentage
unitholders units amount investment
(Rupees in '000') %
Individuals 691 8,614,975 464,297 65.69
Associated company 1 46,810 2,523 0.36
Retirement funds 20 2,042,581 110,083 156.57
Others 42 2,410,868 129,932 18.38
754 13,115,233 706,835 100.00
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As at June 30, 2019

Number of Number of Investment Percentage
unitholders units amount investment
(Rupees in '000") %
Individuals 741 9,196,179 488,788 70
Associated company 1 41,471 2,204 1
Retirement funds 18 1,921,742 102,143 14
Others 14 1,968,423 104,625 15
774 13,127,815 697,760 100

26 ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The 151st, 152nd, 153rd, 154th, 155th and 156th meetings of the Board of Directors were held on August 1, 2019,
September 13, 2019, October 24, 2019, February 06, 2020, February 21, 2020 and April 20, 2020 respectively.
Information in respect of attendance by the directors and other persons in the meetings is given bel ow:

Number of Number of meetings
Names of directors attending the . . R .
. Designation meetings || Attendance Leave Meetings not attended
meetings . Attended
held required granted

Mr. Mian Muhammad Mansha* Former Chairman 6 4 1 3 151st, 153rd & 154th
Mr. Haroun Rashid Chairman 6 6 5 1 154th
Mr. Nasim Beg Director 6 6 6 - -
Mr. Ahmed Jahangir Director 6 6 6 - -
Mr. Samad A. Habib* Director 6 4 1 3 151st, 153rd & 154th
Mr. Mirza Qamar Beg Director 6 6 6 -
Syed Savail Meekal Hussain**** Director 6 5 5 - -
Mr. Kashif A. Habib** Director 6 2 1 1 156th
Ms. Mavra Adil Khan** Director 6 2 2 - -
Mr. Muhammad Saqib Saleem (CEO) Chief Executive Officer 6 6 6 - -

* Retired on completion of term on February 06, 2020.

** New Directors elected on the Board of Directors on February 06, 2020.

*** An election of Directors was held in an EOGM held on February 06, 2020 wherein all retiring directors except for Mr. Mian Muhammad
Mansha and Mr. Samad A. Habib were re-elected.

****Appointed on September 04, 2019

27 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue on August 18, 2020 by the Board of Directors of the
Management Company.

28 GENERAL
28.1 Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees unless otherwise specified.
28.2 Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has taken a toll on all economies and emerged as a contagion risk around the globe,
including Pakistan. To reduce the impact on businesses and economies in general, regulators / governments across
the globe have introduced a host of measures on both the fiscal and economic fronts.

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) has provided the following relaxations to the asset
management companies operating in Pakistan for a specific period:

a) The time period to regularize the exposure limits breach under Regulation 55(13) of the NBFC Regulations has
been extended from four months to six months;

b)  Maximum limit for application of discretionary discount as per the Annexure-I, Chapter 3 of Circular 33 of 2012
has been enhanced;
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c) The time period for classification of a debt security to non-performing category has been extended from 15 days
to 180 days as per the requirements of Annexure-Il of Circular 33 of 2012;

d) Time period to ensure compliance with minimum fund size for Open End Schemes under Regulation 54(3b) of
the NBFC regulations has been increased from 3 months to 180 days for Open End Schemes;

e) Time for announcement of daily NAV as per the regulatory requirement is extended from 18:30 pm to the start
of the next working day.

28.3 Operational risk management

The Management Company is closely monitoring the situation and has invoked required actions to ensure safety and
security of the staff and an uninterrupted service to the customers. Business Continuity Plans (BCP) for respective
areas are in place and tested. The Management Company has significantly enhanced monitoring for all cyber
security risk during these times from its information security protocols. The remote work capabilities were enabled for
critical staff and related risk and control measures were assessed to make sure they are fully protected using virtual
private network (“VPN”) connections. Further, the Management Company has also ensured that its remote access
systems are sufficiently resilient to any unwanted cyber-attacks.

The Management Company has made an assessment of Covid-19 on the credit risk and liquidity risk and believes
that there is no significant impact on the Fund.

For MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited
(the Management Company)

e , -

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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| No. of Unit Holders | Unit Holdings | Total Units Held |
269 001-10,000 10,431
131 10,001 - 100,000 91,402
218 100,001 - 1000,000 1,826,024
136 1000,001 + 11,187,376
754 13,115,233
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Total Net Assets Value — Rs. in million 707 | 1,106 1,350 1,688
Net Assets value per unit — Rupees 53.8942 53.1512 55.8399 53.0958
Closing Offer Price 55.1122 54.3524 57.1019 54.2958
Closing Repurchase Price 52.0672 53.1512 55.8399 53.0958
Highest offer price per unit 62.4156 58.5188 57.1019 57.0442
Lowest offer price per unit 54.3835 53.107 54.3263 54.2372
Highest Redemption price per unit 61.0362 57.2255 55.8399 55.7835
Lowest Redemption price per unit 53.1816 53.1208 53.1257 53.0385
Distribution per unit —Rs. * 6.9605 6.8514 2.75
Average Annual Return - %
One year 14.45 7.84 5.17 5.06
Two year 11.15 6.51 5.12 6.70
Three year 9.15 6.02 6.19 9.01
Net Income for the year — Rs. in million 101.376 65.98 66.27 63.88
Distribution made during the year — Rs. in million 82.531 116.73 - 6.76
Accumulated Capital Growth — Rs. in million 18.85 (50.75) 66.27 57.12
Weighted average Portfolio Duration (years) 2.6 1.8 2.0 2.20
* Date of Distribution
2020
Date | Rate
June 26, 2020 6.9605
2019
Date | Rate
July 04,2018 2.7329
June 28, 2019 4.1185
2018
Date | Rate
Nil
2017 _
Date | Rate
June 21, 2017 2.75

Disclaimer
The past performance is not necessarily indicative of future performance and unit prices and investments and returns may go down, as well as up.
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